Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 125 (2017) 52-60

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

ELSEVIER



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pbiomolbio

On the indirect relationship between protein dynamics and enzyme activity



Qinyi Zhao

Medical Institute, CRRC, Beijing PR China

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 January 2017 Accepted 1 February 2017 Available online 3 February 2017

Keywords: Enzyme Protein dynamics Motion Conformation Thermodynamics

ABSTRACT

The behaviors of simple thermal systems have been well studied in physical chemistry and the principles obtained from such studies have been applied to complex thermal systems, such as proteins and enzymes. But the simple application of such principles is questionable and may lead to mistakes under some circumstances. In enzymology, the transition state theory of chemical reactions has been accepted as a fundamental theory, but the role of protein dynamics in enzyme catalysis is controversial in the context of transition state theory. By studying behaviors of complex thermal systems, we have revised the Arrhenius equation and transition state theory and our model is validated in enzymology. Formally speaking, the revised Arrhenius equation is apparently similar to a conventional Arrhenius equation, but the physical meanings of its parameters differ from that of traditional forms in principle. Within this model, the role of protein dynamics is well defined and quantified.

© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Behaviors of simple and complex thermal system	. 53
2.	Transition state theory and the Arrhenius equation for chemical reactions of complex thermal systems	. 54
3.	Alcohol dehydrogenase	. 55
4.	Protein folding kinetics	. 55
5.	Relation among protein dynamics and enzyme activity	. 56
6.	Protein dynamics and abundance curve of active conformation of enzyme	. 57
7.	The dispute about scientific concept and criteria	. 58
8.	Conclusion	. 58
	Acknowledgements	58
	References	58

Conventional thermodynamics was developed in the study of behaviors of simple thermal systems such as the ideal gas (Schroeder, 2000). When it was fully established, the principles have been gradually applied to fields of complex thermal systems. Although great achievements have been made over time, we must bear in mind that the validation of the principles of conventional thermodynamics in the field of complex thermal systems has not been fully tested. When it occurs, different conclusions of science may be obtained by applying different research methods. As chemical studies now target the behaviors of complex thermal systems such as biological systems and Nano-scale materials, the case becomes more and more serious (Dill and Bromberg, 2010).

Clearly, the behaviors of complex thermal systems differ from that of simple thermal systems. Currently, there are two different ways to handle these differences. Some scientists, particularly experimentalists, prefer to revise principles of conventional thermodynamics and believe that it can account for all behaviors of complex thermal systems. In another way, some believe that the behaviors of complex thermal systems differ from that of simple thermal systems in principle and new principles of physics and chemistry should be proposed. By the second way, the dynamic

E-mail addresses: qinyizhao@gmail.com, Qinyi_zhao@163.com.

system and dissipative structure theory have been proposed (Kondepudi and Prigogine, 2014). Inspired by such approaches, we have proposed new principle of irreversible thermodynamics and protein thermodynamic structure theory (Zhao, 2009, 2013).

A fundamental task of science for both biology and physical chemistry is to reveal thermodynamic mechanisms for biological processes and expose the logical relationship between protein motion and function (Frauenfelder and McMahon, 1998; Berendsen and Hayward, 2000). In order to resolve this, one problem of science should firstly be addressed. As biological macromolecules, including proteins, enzymes, DNA and RNA, are all complex thermal systems, we should ascertain whether the thermodynamical principles for simple thermal systems are still suitable or validated in the field of complex thermal systems. If the answer is no, we should endeavor to find the right formulation of thermodynamics for complex thermal systems.

At present, studies on the relationship between protein dynamics and protein function are focusing on the relationship between protein dynamics and enzyme activity. This is currently under fierce debate. One opinion, which is held by many experimental scientists, is that there is a general relationship between protein dynamics and enzyme activity (Bhabha et al., 2011; Henzler-Wildman et al., 2007; Klinman and Kohen, 2013; Garcia-Viloca et al., 2004). Another opinion is that if there is such relationship, the effects of protein dynamics on enzyme activity should be expressed in parameters of enzyme kinetics, particularly activation energy of enzymatic reaction. There is no experimental report that the activation energy of enzymatic reaction could be influenced by a change of protein dynamics, and thus the relationship between protein dynamics and enzyme activity is often disputed (Kamerlin and Warshel, 2010a; Warshel and Ram, 2016).

Here we show that the Arrhenius equation and transition state theory, which works well for simple chemical reactions, should be revised in the field of complex thermal systems or enzymaticcatalyzed reactions. This revised Arrhenius equation makes clear the effect of protein dynamics on enzyme activity and changes the parameters of enzymatic kinetics. In addition, our conclusion is that protein dynamics takes its role in enzyme activity by influencing thermodynamic states of protein conformation; or in other words, there is indirect relation between protein dynamics and enzyme activity.

1. Behaviors of simple and complex thermal system

Conventional thermodynamics was developed from studies of the behavior of simple thermal systems. For simple thermal systems, the motions of all the components are completely independent of each other; there are no coupled motions among the components and there is no infrastructure within the system.

However, the coupled motion or cooperativity is a common phenomenon in protein conformational change. In view of conventional theory, the behaviors of a protein show complexity (Frauenfelder, 2002; Karplus, 2000). In studies of protein thermodynamic structure theory, we have proposed the scientific definition of complex and stable thermal systems (Zhao, 2011a, 2012).

Within a protein, a logical cyclic relationship can be found.



The protein conformation modulates the range and amplitude of internal motion of components of a protein. The change of internal motion can also influence the coupled motion within a protein. The nature of the coupled motions of a protein determines protein conformation.

A more general definition of a system could be expressed.



In this definition, a complex thermal system acts an indivisible whole in thermodynamics and represents one degree of freedom of thermodynamics.

For simple thermal system

E = constant

$$E_W = E_1 + E_2 + E_3 + \dots$$

$$N_p = \sum_i e^{rac{-E_i}{kT}}$$

where E is energy of its components. E_i is the energy of *I*th component of the system. E_w is the total energy of thermal system. Np is partition function of its components.

For complex thermal system

$$\Delta G = \Delta G^{0} - F(s)$$

$$\Delta G = \Delta G^0 - B (s - s_0)$$
 (in linear area)

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{W}} &\leq \mathbf{E}_1 + \mathbf{E}_2 + \mathbf{E}_3 + \dots \\ N_p &= \sum_{kT} e^{\frac{-\left[\Delta \mathbf{G}^0_i - F_i(s)\right]}{kT}} \end{split}$$

where ΔG is the energetic level of complex system, F is a function, b is revision efficiency, s is the quantification of an environmental factor, Ew is the total energy of thermal system. N_{ps} is the partition function of the state of a complex thermal system.

Within a complex thermal system, the energy of the total system comes from coupled motion of its components; the uncoupled motion makes no contribution to the total energy of the system, and so the energy of the system is not the sum of energy of its components. The concept of the partition function of a complex thermal system makes it possible to calculate the distribution curve of thermodynamic states of complex thermal systems (Zhao, 2012, 2015).

From the equations above, we can deduce the differences between the behaviors of complex thermal systems when compared to simple thermal systems.

One major difference is that the thermodynamic state of a complex thermal system is sensitive to a change of temperature (or other types of environmental factors) and the abundance of one state can dramatically change over a small temperature range (i.e. the abundance of one state can reach close to 100%). In contrast, the abundance of one quantum state of a molecule at a high energetic level can only reach up to 50% in a broad range of temperatures. See Fig. 1 for detail.

There is a special phenomenon in the behavior of a complex thermal system, or abundance curve shift along an environmental factor (e.g. temperature). When a complex thermal system is changed, for example by a change in sequences, its properties will change also. Compared with the original system, the distribution curve of a new state of the system will appear at a different position along coordinates of an environmental factor (temperature in this



Fig. 1. Distribution curves of a state of the complex thermal system and a quantum state of a molecule.

Fig. 1A is the distribution curve of a state of the complex thermal system. Fig. 1B is a distribution curve of a quantum state of a molecule at a high level of energy.

figure), but the general shape of it may be unaltered (Zhao, 2012, 2015, 2016). Three typical examples of this phenomenon are shown in Fig. 2.

In Fig. 2, three typical distribution curves and shifts are shown. In practice, we can judge the existence of complex thermal systems by the distribution curve shift phenomenon (Zhao, 2012, 2015, 2016). In the field of biochemistry, there is no report about distribution curve shifts of active conformations of an enzyme, but the



Fig. 2. Three typical distribution curve shifts of the state of a complex thermal system. Fig. 2A describes general profile of distribution curve shift of two-states transition of a system. Fig. 2B pictures shift of stability curve of the mutated and the original protein with high thermal stability. Fig. 2C is the shift of protein conformation with low thermal stability.

shift of enzyme activity curve along temperature gradients is a common phenomenon in biological evolution or biological adaptation of microorganisms (Feller and Gerday, 2003; Katava et al., 2016). According to our model, the underlying phenomenon of it is distribution curve shift of active conformations of an enzyme.

According to protein thermodynamic structure theory, a protein is composed of many complex thermal sub-systems, which are called potherses (Zhao, 2013). The protein conformational states, the foldons, are special potherses, although they were proposed within different models of science (Frauenfelder et al., 1988; Panchenko et al., 1996, 1997). In addition, in view of protein dynamics, a potherse represents an ensemble of protein conformations at the atom level. Theoretically speaking, the exciton in a nanoscale system is a special complex thermal system (Scholes and Rumbles, 2006).

2. Transition state theory and the Arrhenius equation for chemical reactions of complex thermal systems

The Arrhenius equation was first proposed as an experimental equation of rate for chemical reactions. Currently, there are many revisions for it (Laidler, 1984; Hänggi et al., 1990). The underlying principles of it was provided by collision and transition state theory. The collision theory can handle the rates of elementary reactions and transition state theory can handle rather complex chemical reactions (Laidler and King, 1983; Truhlar et al., 1996). Now the transition state theory acts as a standard theory for chemical reactions. Transition state theory has been part of enzymology for a long time (Pauling, 1948).

Although the correctness of transition state theory in the field of simple chemical reactions is beyond doubt, its correctness in the field of complex thermal systems has not been fully tested. In view of systems theory, the so called complex reactions in chemistry are rather simple when compared to reactions of complex thermal systems, such as enzyme-catalyzed reactions (Karplus, 2000).

Several aspects of chemical reactions have been ignored in conventional theory of transition state theory and we discuss these as follows.

Firstly, it cannot give precise description for complex chemical reactions with multiple steps except for where there is only one rate-limiting step. Secondly, the rate limiting steps of a complex reaction may change under different conditions (see following discussion). Thirdly, the relationship between intermediates and the transition state of a chemical reaction cannot be analyzed by this theory. For example, the relationship between enzymesubstrate complex and the transition state of enzyme catalyzed reaction cannot be theoretically answered within this theory. Thus the role of the stable enzyme substrate complex has been ignored and the essential relationship between protein dynamics and enzyme activity cannot be resolved. Fourthly, the conventional transition state theory focuses on the breaking and formation of chemical bonds at the transition state. This is not true for some reactions, for example, the activation energy of protein inactivation (denaturation) certainly comes from the protein conformational change. Sixthly, the nonlinear Arrhenius or Eyring plots can be observed under some circumstances but there is no consensus on this (Truhlar and Kohen, 2001).

Thus, in order to improve the validity of transition state theory and the Arrhenius equation, these should be revised under specific cases, particularly in the field of complex thermal systems. Taking this into consideration, we have revised these equations in our studies of the working mechanism of enzyme action and regulation (Zhao, 2011a, 2012, 2011b). The main points are as follows.

- 1) The enzyme-substrate complex undergoes several conformational changes along the reaction coordinate and the transition state of an enzyme catalyzed reaction represents a special conformational state of the enzyme-substrate complex.
- 2) Although the enzyme substrate binding lowers the total energy of the enzyme substrate complex, the energetic level of the enzyme substrate complex in the reaction coordinate is elevated. The transition state of enzyme-reactants represents one type of thermal system and its state can be precisely described by the partition function of the thermal system (Zhao, 2012).

According to our model, the enzyme catalyzed reaction can be expressed

where E is enzyme, S is substrate, $(ES)^{IN}$ represents inactive conformation of enzyme substrate complex, $(ES)^*$ is transition state of enzyme substrate complex.

By applying partition function of complex thermal system, the revised Arrhenius equation of enzymatic reactions can be obtained (Zhao, 2012, 2015).

$$K = \operatorname{APexp}\left\{\frac{-\Delta G_0 - b[T - T_0]}{k_B T}\right\} = \operatorname{AD}_T \operatorname{Pexp}\left(-\frac{\Delta G_a}{k_B T}\right)$$

where K is rate constant of enzymatic reaction, $k_{\rm B}$ is Boltzmann constant, A is traditional pre-exponential factor of Arrhenius equation and its meanings is same as that for simple chemical reaction. ΔG_0 is activation energy at reference temperature and ΔG_a is apparent activation energy of enzymatic reaction. The (ΔG_0 -b [T-T₀]) represents activation energy at a temperature. AD_T is apparent pre-exponential factor of Arrhenius equation for enzymatic reaction. P is abundance of active conformation of enzyme.

The equation can give a precise description of the enzymatic kinetics, in both linear and nonlinear ranges of Arrhenius plot of enzymatic activity (Arcus et al., 2016; Daniel and Danson, 2010).

Within our model, the activation energy of an enzyme catalyzed reaction is not constant. This prediction is supported by the following observations:

- 1. The activation energies of enzymatic reactions differ from each other when different substrates of the enzyme are utilized (Fersht, 1999).
- 2. The activation energy of enzymatic reactions is changeable when mutations in the enzyme amino-acid sequence occur (Fields and Houseman, 2004).
- 3. The change of activation energy is related to the deviation of transition state from normal state. The KIE (Kinetic Isotope Effects) can be utilized to monitor the deviation of the transition state of enzymatic catalyzed reactions. The research shows that the transition state of the enzyme reactions may be different under different conditions (Klinman, 1981; Otzen et al., 1999)
- 4. The pre-exponential factor of an enzymatic reaction is environmentally dependent (Fenimore et al., 2002).

According to our model, the energetic level of diversified intermediates of an enzyme catalyzed reaction is pictured in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Diagram of enzymatic catalyzed reaction (cited from Zhao, 2011b with minimal revision).

On the left in Fig. 3 is the energetic level of un-catalyzed chemical reaction, whereas on the right is the energetic level of the enzyme catalyzed reaction. ΔG_a is activation energy of un-catalyzed reaction. ΔG_{Ea} is activation energy of enzyme catalyzed reaction. Then $\Delta G_a - \Delta G_{Ea} \leq \Delta G_B$ where ΔG_B is the binding affinity of enzyme for substrate.

We conclude that the high efficiency of enzymes to catalyze the chemical reaction comes from the binding affinity between enzyme and substrate. Although binding between enzyme and substrate lowers the energy of enzyme substrate complex, it enhances the energetic level of enzyme substrate complex in the direction of chemical reaction.

This statement does not imply that an increase of affinity between enzyme and substrate will improve the catalytic power of the enzyme. Only interactions between enzyme and substrate, which appear both in the equilibrium state and the transition state of enzyme substrate complex, could lower the activation energy of the enzyme-catalyzed reaction. Some types interactions may be harmful to enzyme activity for if they impair the protein conformational change from ground state to transition state of enzyme substrate complex.

For alcohol dehydrogenase, the rate of enzyme-catalyzed reaction is increased as the molecular weight of substrates is increased from alcohol to hexanol; the rate will be lowered when the molecular weight of the substrate is increased further (e.g. Raia et al., 2001; Inoue et al., 2005). This phenomenon can be easily explained by our theory.

3. Alcohol dehydrogenase

Here we take alcohol dehydrogenase as an example to show that the revision of the Arrhenius equation can precisely describe the properties of enzyme kinetics for this enzyme (Zhao, 2013; Nagel et al., 2011; Plapp, 2010). Diverse aspects of the enzyme properties and kinetics are shown in Fig. 4.

At low and high temperatures, alcohol dehydrogenase is inactivated due to protein denaturation and the presence of the active conformation of enzyme depends on the temperature, so the nonlinear Arrhenius plot can be observed. In the linear range of the Arrhenius plot, the active conformation of enzyme is 100% present and is not sensitive to temperature (as well as protein flexibility, protein dynamics). The enzymatic kinetics has been well studied by many scientists (e.g. Lee et al., 2007). Within this figure, we can see that our model can explain all properties of the enzymatic kinetics.

4. Protein folding kinetics

The physics and chemistry of protein folding is complex (Zhao, 2013; Kim and Baldwin, 1990; Chan and Dill, 1998). Small proteins are typically used in studying of study protein folding kinetics.



Fig. 4. Diagram of alcohol dehydrogenase. Fig. 4A is an Arrhenius plot for the enzyme kinetics. Fig. 4B is the abundance curve of the active conformation of enzyme substrate complex. Fig. 4C is the protein conformational stability curve of the enzyme substrate complex; three conformations are drawn in this figure. The Fig. 4C was drawn according to protein stability curve and properties of the enzyme (Zhao, 2013; Becktel and Schellman, 1987).

Many reports have been published, but there is no consensus about kinetics (Dimitriadis et al., 2004; Scalley and Baker, 1997; Bunagan et al., 2006; Nguyen et al., 2003; Oliveberg et al., 1995).

According to the irreversible thermodynamic structure theory and revised transition state model, the protein folding can be expressed



Extended	≓	Foldable	≓	Transition	Native like → protein		Native	
Polypeptide		Intermediate		state of		protein	\rightarrow	protein
				folding		structure		·

The energetic level of diversified intermediates of protein folding is shown as follows (See Fig. 5 for detail).

Briefly speaking, the extended protein conformation (or nascent polypeptide) first collapses into many conformations due to hydrophobic interaction among its components and it will likely sample an ensemble of collapsed conformations; if it by chance is converted into a foldable conformation (it is one type of collapsed conformation), it can fold further and finally native protein can be formed. A highlighted feature of protein folding is that the activation energy does not arise from strong chemical bond breaking or formation, but weak interactions involved in protein conformational change.

The rate of protein folding can be expressed

$$K = AD_T P_{FI} \exp(-\Delta G_a/k_BT)$$

In conventional theory for simple thermal system, the energy of the foldable intermediate and transition state is constant and this equation can be expressed as

$$K = AD_T P_{FI} \exp\left(-\frac{\Delta G_a}{k_B T}\right) = AD_T \exp\left(-\frac{[\Delta G_a + \Delta G_{FI}]}{k_B T}\right)$$

where ΔG_{FI} is the stability of foldable intermediate. However, the case is totally different for complex thermal systems. In this case, the energy of both foldable intermediate and the transition state are not constant and they are changeable under different conditions. The P_{FI} can only act as an independent variable and it cannot be merged into exponential term of the Arrhenius equation. It marks the fundamental difference between simple and complex thermal systems.

According to this model, the kinetics of protein folding can be pictured in Fig. 6.

Within this model, at both low and high temperature the abundance of foldable intermediate is low, which results in a decrease of folding rate. The abundance of foldable intermediate is precisely controlled by laws of equilibrium thermodynamics, thus the nonlinear Arrhenius plot is caused by a process of equilibrium thermodynamics, and not the process of chemical kinetics.

This model is supported by many experimental results.

- In the presence of protein denaturant, the stability of a protein conformation is decreased, and the optimum temperature for protein folding is decreased also (Scalley and Baker, 1997).
- Salt and other substances, if they have an impact on protein conformation stability, can influence the protein folding (Cao and Li, 2008; Song et al., 2007).

This analysis indicated that protein kinetics can be fully described by the revised Arrhenius equation.

5. Relation among protein dynamics and enzyme activity

As we have discussed, there is an indirect relation between protein dynamics and enzyme activity. The logical relationship of protein dynamics to many concepts in enzyme kinetics and regulation are summarized in Fig. 7. All these relationships have been



Fig. 5. Diagram of protein folding process, where FI is foldable intermediate, TS is transition state of protein folding.



Fig. 6. Diagram of folding kinetics of small protein.

Fig. 6A is Arrhenius lot of rate of protein folding. Fig. 6B is the abundance of foldable intermediate (InP_a) . Fig. 6C is Arrhenius lot of rate of protein folding when the abundance of foldable intermediate is constant by adjusting the protein conformation stability (Scalley and Baker, 1997).

demonstrated and confirmed experimentally.

As shown in Fig. 7, protein dynamics can influence enzyme activity in several ways. Firstly, it can influence the stability of a protein conformation, and then alter the abundance of the active conformation of the enzyme; or in other words, it can inactivate or activate an enzyme (Ostermann et al., 2000; Csermely et al., 2010; Giordano et al., 2005). This represents a thermodynamic model for enzyme regulation (Zhao, 2015). Secondly, it can regulate the detailed state of the active conformation of the enzyme and the binding affinity between enzyme and substrates can be influenced. In this way the K_m of the enzymatic reaction is changed. This binding process between protein and ligand has been well studied (Zou et al., 2002; Yancey and Somero, 1979). Thirdly, it can modulate the fine structure and thermal stability of the transition state of the enzyme substrate complex, thus the activation energy and other parameters of enzyme kinetics can be altered. Thus, all effects



Fig. 7. Logic relationships of different concepts in enzymology.

of protein dynamics on enzyme activity can be expressed in the parameters of enzymatic kinetics and protein conformation.

Within our model, the activation energy of the enzymatic reaction is not constant and changeable with temperature or other environmental factors. The D_T represents the contribution of protein dynamics to enzyme activity.

At present, it is impossible to measure D_T alone experimentally. But the apparent pre-exponential factor of Arrhenius equation, or AD_T, could be easily measurable. So we can define and quantify the dynamic contribution of enzyme activity by monitoring the change of AD_T under varying conditions. We predict that AD_T is changeable with components of solvent or buffer, such as protein denaturant.

The pre-exponential factor of the Arrhenius equation is ignored by most experimental scientists and there are few studies of this. The abnormal value of the pre-exponential factor of the Arrhenius equation for enzyme reactions has been reported. Nagel et al. have done so, but he fail to give explanation (Nagel et al., 2011). It is a prediction of our theory.

As there is an indirect relation between protein dynamics and enzyme activity, an increase of protein flexibility may not affect enzyme activity if it does not alter the abundance of the active conformation of the enzyme. Many experimental results indicate that enzyme activity remains unchanged when the protein flexibility is enhanced by urea at low concentration at which protein denaturation does not occur (e.g. Aceto et al., 1992; Rangarajan et al., 1992).

6. Protein dynamics and abundance curve of active conformation of enzyme

Much confusion in protein science and enzymology has been caused by misunderstanding of the indirect relation between protein dynamics and the abundance curve of protein conformation (or protein stability). The principle is pictured in Fig. 8.

We can see in Fig. 8, a conformational distribution curve can be generated from different protein conformation stability curves. Or in other words, the probability of the active conformation is not determined by protein dynamics directly. This principle provides a reasonable answer to the debate on the protein conformational rigidity and protein dynamics (Jaenicke, 2000; Hernández et al., 2000; Myers et al., 1995). In view of biochemistry, the change of abundance of the active conformation responding to a stimulus represents structural rigidity of the protein conformation and it can be analyzed in Fig. 8A; thus, the protein conformation rigidity (flexibility) differs from thermal stability (flexibility) of it in principle.

In studying the thermal adaptation of proteins, it has been observed that a change of protein flexibility or dynamics induced by amino-acid mutation has accompanied the alteration of the protein properties. It is evidence for the relation between protein dynamics and enzyme activity (ZAvodszky et al., 1998; Georlette et al., 2004). Our view is that a change of protein dynamics is a necessary but not sufficient condition. Within our model, adjustment of conformation rigidity, rather than protein dynamics (thermal stability), is a key event in the thermal adaptation of proteins (ZAvodszky et al., 1998). Compared to mesophillic enzymes, the distribution curve of active conformation of the enzyme of thermophiles has been shifted into range of high temperature (Fig. 2B).

Henzler-Wildman et al. utilize NMR techniques to study protein dynamics, and found a correlation of protein motion and enzyme activity (Henzler-Wildman et al., 2007). They have concluded that the larger-scale motions in substrate-free adenylate kinase are not random, but preferentially follow the pathways that create the configuration capable of proficient chemistry. Such preferred



Fig. 8. Diagram of relation between conformation curve and protein conformation stability. Fig. 8A is the distribution curve of active conformation of enzyme. Fig. 8B and C is the protein conformation stability curves. Both Figs. 8B and C can give same distribution curve of active conformation of enzyme (Fig. 8A).

directionality, encoded in the fold, may contribute to catalysis in many enzymes. According to our model, the larger-scale motions in active conformations of enzymes are not totally random, but preferentially follow the pathways that create the favorable configuration in transition state of enzymatic reaction.

7. The dispute about scientific concept and criteria

Some scientists have noticed that substitution of amino acid residues distant from the active site of an enzyme have great impact on enzyme activity (Benkovic et al., 1988; Wang et al., 2006; Benkovic and Hammes-Schiffer, 2003; Caratzoulas et al., 2002). So the concept of promoting motion or vibration of enzyme activity has been proposed. The revision of this concept is coupled motion network (Hammes-Schiffer and Benkovic, 2006; Fu et al., 2012). This view goes too far. In my opinion, some motions of dynamic sites of a protein can influence the pathway of protein conformational change, modulate the fine structure or thermodynamic parameters of conformation of enzyme substrate complex, but most motions have nothing to do it. Their contribution to accelerate the rate of enzymatic reaction comes from fine configuration of transition state of enzyme substrate complex, and energy of such motion cannot lower the activation energy of enzymatic reaction directly.

The KIE (kinetic isotope effect) of enzymatic reaction has been utilized to monitor the transition state of enzymatic reaction and compression concept in enzymatic reaction has been proposed; it is said that distance between donor and acceptor of transferring hydrogen is compressed within enzyme (Klinman and Kohen, 2013; Klinman, 1981, 2009; Knapp et al., 2002; Hay and Scrutton, 2012; Hay et al., 2010). Within our model, there is an indirect relationship between the distance of atoms and protein dynamics. The change of protein dynamics is firstly influenced by the volume of a protein and which finally determines the distance between different atoms (Chalikian, 2003; Heremans, 1982; Gekko and Hasegawa, 1989; Liu and Warshel, 2007).

Overall, the advocators for the relation between protein dynamics and enzyme activity have found many interesting phenomena and relationships between protein dynamics and enzyme activity can be confirmed. However, the underlying principle for it, which is a prerequisite to persuade others, has not been proposed within such studies.

Some scientists deny completely such a relation (Kamerlin and Warshel, 2010a; Warshel and Ram, 2016; Glowacki et al., 2012; Olsson et al., 2006; Kamerlin and Warshel, 2010b). The reason is rather simple and clear. If protein dynamics play a role in enzyme activity, we should find its contribution to enzyme activity in the parameters of enzymatic kinetics. Or in other words, the effect of protein dynamics in enzyme catalysis should be expressed in parameters of enzyme kinetics. Theoretically speaking, this scientific criterion is quite right. However, the theoretical foundation of their argument is conventional transition state theory of enzymatic kinetics, the role of protein conformation in enzyme activity cannot be analyzed by it, thus their opinion is questionable. Another reason to rebut the direct relation between protein dynamics and enzyme activity is that the energy of motion or vibration is a concept of mechanics and the activation energy is a concept of thermodynamics, two types of energy cannot be transformed with each other freely and directly.

8. Conclusion

Our analysis has shown that the validation of chemical laws in the field of complex thermal systems, particularly for biophysics and biochemistry, should be tested carefully. A revision of transition state theory and the Arrhenius equation allows enzymatic kinetics and the working mechanism of enzyme action to be interpreted theoretically. Our analysis also shows that the dispute regarding the role of protein dynamics in enzyme activity arises from an incorrect understanding of transition state theory in enzymology. As the indirect relation between protein dynamics and parameters of enzymatic kinetics has been established theoretically, the dispute should be ended.

Finally, we would like to thank all scientists who have been involved in the dispute for their contribution to the science although most of their work has not been cited in this paper. Surely, the dispute has inspired us to reshape our thoughts and to revise the theory of science, and thus the progress of science can be made.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Professor Sir Tom Blundell, (Department of Biochemistry, University of Cambridge), Professor Vic Arcus (Molecular Biology, University of Waikato, Hamilton 3240, New Zealand), Professor Vladimir Matveev (Institute of Cytology, Russian Academy of Sciences, Lab of Cell Physiology, 194064, St. Petersburg, Russia), Dr. Zhenbao Yu (Jewish General Hospital, Canada; McGill University, Canada) for their carefully reading, suggestion and revision of this manuscript, Dr. Yang liu (School of Life Sciences, Peking University) for his help in preparing figures.

References

- Aceto, A., Caccuri, A.M., Sacchetta, P., Bucciarelli, T., Dragani, B., Rosato, N., Federici, G., Di Ilio, C., 1992. Dissociation and unfolding of Pi-class glutathione transferase. Evidence for a monomeric inactive intermediate. Biochem. J. 285, 241–245.
- Arcus, V.L., Prentice, E.J., Hobbs, J.K., Mulholland, A.J., Van der Kamp, M.W., Pudney, C.R., et al., 2016. On the temperature dependence of enzyme-catalyzed rates. Biochemistry 55, 1681–1688.

- Becktel, W.I., Schellman, I.A., 1987, Protein stability curves, Biopolymers 26, 1859-1877.
- Benkovic, S.J., Hammes-Schiffer, S., 2003. A perspective on enzyme catalysis. Science 301, 1196-1202.
- Benkovic, S.J., Fierke, C.A., Naylor, A.M., 1988. Insights into enzyme function from studies on mutants of dihydrofolate reductase. Science 239, 1105-1110.
- Berendsen, H.J., Hayward, S., 2000. Collective protein dynamics in relation to function. Curr. Opin. S Biol. 10, 165–169.
- Bhabha, G., Lee, J., Ekiert, D.C., Gam, J., Wilson, I.A., Dyson, H.J., Benkovic, S.J., Wright, P.E., 2011. A dynamic knockout reveals that conformational fluctuations influence the chemical step of enzyme catalysis. Science 332, 234-238.

Bunagan, M.R., Yang, X., Saven, J.G., Gai, F., 2006. Ultrafast folding of a computa-

- tionally designed Trp-cage mutant: Trp2-cage. J. Phys. Chem. B 110, 3759-3763. Cao, Y., Li, H., 2008. How do chemical denaturants affect the mechanical folding and
- unfolding of proteins? J. Mol. Biol. 375, 316–324. Caratzoulas, S., Mincer, J.S., Schwartz, S.D., 2002. Identification of a proteinpromoting vibration in the reaction catalyzed by horse liver alcohol dehydrogenase. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 124, 3270–3276.
- Chalikian, T.V., 2003. Volumetric properties of proteins. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 32, 207–235.
- Chan, H.S., Dill, K.A., 1998. Protein folding in the landscape perspective: chevron plots and non-Arrhenius kinetics. Proteins 30, 2-33.
- Csermely, P., Palotai, R., Nussinov, R., 2010. Induced fit, conformational selection and independent dynamic segments: an extended view of binding events. Trends Biochem. Sci. 35, 539-546.
- Daniel, R.M., Danson, M.J., 2010. A new understanding of how temperature affects the catalytic activity of enzymes. Trends Biochem. Sci. 35, 584-591.
- Dill, K., Bromberg, S., 2010, Molecular Driving Forces: Statistical Thermodynamics in Biology. Chemistry, Physics, and Nanoscience. Garland Science.
- Dimitriadis, G., Drysdale, A., Myers, J.K., Arora, P., Radford, S.E., Oas, T.G., Smith, D.A., 2004. Microsecond folding dynamics of the F13W G29A mutant of the B domain of staphylococcal protein A by laser-induced temperature jump. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 3809-3814.
- Feller, G., Gerday, C., 2003. Psychrophilic enzymes: hot topics in cold adaptation. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 1, 200-208.
- Fenimore, P.W., Frauenfelder, H., McMahon, B.H., Parak, F.G., 2002. Slaving: solvent fluctuations dominate protein dynamics and functions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S A 99 16047-16051
- Fersht, A., 1999. Structure and Mechanism in Protein Science: a Guide to Enzyme Catalysis and Protein Folding. Macmillan.
- Fields, P.A., Houseman, D.E., 2004. Decreases in activation energy and substrate affinity in cold-adapted A4-lactate dehydrogenase: evidence from the Antarctic notothenioid fish Chaenocephalus aceratus. Mol. Biol. Evol. 21, 2246-2255.
- Frauenfelder, H., 2002. Proteins: paradigms of complexity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99 (Suppl. 1), 2479-2480.
- Frauenfelder, H., McMahon, B., 1998. Dynamics and function of proteins: the search for general concepts. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 4795-4797.
- Frauenfelder, H., Parak, F., Young, R.D., 1988. Conformational substates in proteins. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biophys. Chem. 17, 451–479.
- Fu, Y., Kasinath, V., Moorman, V.R., Nucci, N.V., Hilser, V.J., Wand, A.J., 2012. Coupled motion in proteins revealed by pressure perturbation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134, 8543-8550.
- Garcia-Viloca, M., Gao, J., Karplus, M., Truhlar, D.G., 2004. How enzymes work: analysis by modern rate theory and computer simulations. Science 303, 186-195.
- Gekko, K., Hasegawa, Y., 1989. Effect of temperature on the compressibility of native globular proteins. J. Phys. Chem. 93, 426-429.
- Georlette, D., Blaise, V., Collins, T., D'Amico, S., Gratia, E., Hoyoux, A., et al., 2004. Some like it cold: biocatalysis at low temperatures. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 28, 25 - 42.
- Giordano, A., Febbraio, F., Russo, C., Rossi, M., Raia, C.A., 2005. Evidence for cooperativity in coenzyme binding to tetrameric Sulfolobus solfataricus alcohol dehydrogenase and its structural basis: fluorescence, kinetic and structural studies of the wild-type enzyme and non-co-operative N249Y mutant. Biochem. J. 388, 657–667.
- Glowacki, D.R., Harvey, J.N., Mulholland, A.J., 2012. Taking Ockham's razor to enzyme dynamics and catalysis. Nat. Chem. 4, 169-176.
- Hammes-Schiffer, S., Benkovic, S.J., 2006. Relating protein motion to catalysis. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 75, 519-541.
- Hänggi, P., Talkner, P., Borkovec, M., 1990. Reaction-rate theory: fifty years after Kramers. Rev. Mod. Phys. 62, 251.
- Hay, S., Scrutton, N.S., 2012. Good vibrations in enzyme-catalysed reactions. Nat. Chem. 4. 161-168.
- Hay, S., Johannissen, L.O., Sutcliffe, M.J., Scrutton, N.S., 2010. Barrier compression and its contribution to both classical and quantum mechanical aspects of enzyme catalysis. Biophys. J. 98, 121-128.
- Henzler-Wildman, K.A., Thai, V., Lei, M., Ott, M., Wolf-Watz, M., Fenn, T., Pozharski, E., Wilson, M.A., Petsko, G.A., Karplus, M., Hubner, C.G., Kern, D., 2007. Intrinsic motions along an enzymatic reaction trajectory. Nature 450, 838-844.
- Heremans, K., 1982. High pressure effects on proteins and other biomolecules. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Bioeng. 11, 1-21.
- Hernández, G., Jenney Jr., F.E., Adams, M.W.W., LeMaster, D.M., 2000. Millisecond time scale conformational flexibility in a hyperthermophile protein at ambient temperature. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 3166-3170.

- Inoue, K., Makino, Y., Itoh, N., 2005. Purification and characterization of a novel alcohol dehydrogenase from Leifsonia sp. strain S749: a promising biocatalyst for an asymmetric hydrogen transfer bioreduction. Appl. Environ. Microb. 71, 3633-3641.
- Jaenicke, R., 2000. Do ultrastable proteins from hyperthermophiles have high or low conformational rigidity? Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 2962-2964.
- Kamerlin, S.C.L., Warshel, A., 2010. At the dawn of the 21st century: is dynamics the missing link for understanding enzyme catalysis? Proteins 78, 1339–1375.
- Kamerlin, S.C.L., Warshel, A., 2010. Reply to Karplus: conformational dynamics have no role in the chemical step. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107, E72.
- Karplus, M., 2000, Aspects of protein reaction dynamics: deviations from simple behavior. J. Phys. Chem. B 104, 11-27.
- Katava, M., Kalimeri, M., Stirnemann, G., Sterpone, F., 2016. Stability and function at high temperature. What makes a thermophilic GTPase different from its mesophilic homologue? J. Phys. Chem. B 120, 2721-2730.
- Kim, P.S., Baldwin, R.L., 1990. Intermediates in the folding reactions of small proteins Annu Rev Biochem 9 631–660
- Klinman, LP., 1981, Probes of mechanism and transition-state structure in the alcohol dehydrogenase reaction. CRC Crit. Rev. Biochem. 10, 39–78.
- Klinman, J.P., 2009. An integrated model for enzyme catalysis emerges from studies of hydrogen tunneling. Chem. Phys. Lett. 471, 179–193. Klinman, J.P., Kohen, A., 2013. Hydrogen tunneling links protein dynamics to
- enzyme catalysis. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 82, 471-496.
- Knapp, M.J., Rickert, K., Klinman, J.P., 2002. Temperature-dependent isotope effects in soybean lipoxygenase-1: correlating hydrogen tunneling with protein dynamics. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 124, 3865-3874.
- Kondepudi, D., Prigogine, I., 2014. Modern Thermodynamics: from Heat Engines to Dissipative Structures, John Wiley & Sons.
- Laidler, K.J., 1984. The development of the Arrhenius equation. J. Chem. Educ. 61, 494
- Laidler, K.J., King, M.C., 1983. Development of transition-state theory. J Phys. Chem. 87. 2657-2664.
- Lee, C.K., Daniel, R.M., Shepherd, C., Saul, D., Cary, S.C., Danson, M.J., Eisenthal, R., Peterson, M.E., 2007. Eurythermalism and the temperature dependence of enzyme activity. FASEB J. 21, 1934–1941.
- Liu, H., Warshel, A., 2007. Origin of the temperature dependence of isotope effects in enzymatic reactions: the case of dihydrofolate reductase. J. Phys. Chem. B 111, 7852-7861
- Myers, J.K., Nick Pace, C., Martin Scholtz, J., 1995. Denaturant m values and heat capacity changes: relation to changes in accessible surface areas of protein unfolding. Protein Sci. 4, 2138-2148.
- Nagel, Z.D., Dong, M., Bahnson, B.J., Klinman, J.P., 2011. Impaired protein conformational landscapes as revealed in anomalous Arrhenius prefactors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 10520-10525.
- Nguyen, H., Jäger, M., Moretto, A., Gruebele, M., Kelly, J.W., 2003. Tuning the freeenergy landscape of a WW domain by temperature, mutation, and truncation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100, 3948-3953.
- Oliveberg, M., Tan, Y.J., Fersht, A.R., 1995. Negative activation enthalpies in the kinetics of protein folding. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92, 8926-8929.
- Olsson, M.H., Parson, W.W., Warshel, A., 2006. Dynamical contributions to enzyme catalysis: critical tests of a popular hypothesis. Chem. Rev. 106, 1737-1756.
- Ostermann, A., Waschipky, R., Parak, F.G., Nienhaus, G.U., 2000. Ligand binding and conformational motions in myoglobin. Nature 404, 205-208.
- Otzen, D.E., Kristensen, O., Proctor, M., Oliveberg, M., 1999. Structural changes in the transition state of protein folding: alternative interpretations of curved chevron plots. Biochemistry 38, 6499-6511.
- Panchenko, A.R., Luthey-Schulten, Z., Wolynes, P.G., 1996. Foldons, protein structural modules, and exons. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93, 2008-2013.
- Panchenko, A.R., Luthey-Schulten, Z., Cole, R., Wolynes, P.G., 1997. The foldon universe: a survey of structural similarity and self-recognition of independently folding units. J. Mol. Biol. 272, 95-105.
- Pauling, L., 1948. Chemical achievement and hope for the future. Am. Sci. 36, 51-58. Plapp, B.V., 2010. Conformational changes and catalysis by alcohol dehydrogenase.
- Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 493, 3-12. Raia, C.A., Giordano, A., Rossi, M., 2001. Alcohol dehydrogenase from Sulfolobus
- solfataricus. Methods Enzymol. 331, 176-195.
- Rangarajan, M., Asboth, B., Hartley, B.S., 1992. Stability of Arthrobacter D-xylose isomerase to denaturants and heat. Biochem. J. 285, 889-898.
- Scalley, M.L., Baker, D., 1997. Protein folding kinetics exhibit an Arrhenius temperature dependence when corrected for the temperature dependence of protein stability. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94, 10636-10640.
- Scholes, G.D., Rumbles, G., 2006. Excitons in nanoscale systems. Nat. Mater 5, 683-696.
- Schroeder, D.V., 2000. An Introduction to Thermal Physics, vol. 60. Addison Wesley, New York.
- Song, B., Cho, J.H., Raleigh, D.P., 2007. Ionic-strength-dependent effects in protein folding: analysis of rate equilibrium free-energy relationships and their interpretation. Biochemistry 46, 14206-14214.
- Truhlar, D.G., Kohen, A., 2001. Convex Arrhenius plots and their interpretation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98 (3), 848-851.
- Truhlar, D.G., Garrett, B.C., Klippenstein, S.J., 1996. Current status of transition-state theory. J. Phys. Chem. 100, 12771-12800.
- Wang, L., Goodey, N.M., Benkovic, S.J., Kohen, A., 2006. Coordinated effects of distal mutations on environmentally coupled tunneling in dihydrofolate reductase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 15753-15758.

- Warshel, A., Ram, P.B., 2016. Perspective: defining and quantifying the role of dynamics in enzyme catalysis. J. Chem. Phys. 144, 180901, 17.
- Yancey, P.H., Somero, G.N., 1979. Counteraction of urea destabilization of protein structure by methylamine osmoregulatory compounds of elasmobranch fishes. Biochem, J. 183, 317–323.
- ZAvodszky, P., Kardos, J., Svingor, Á., Petsko, G.A., 1998. Adjustment of conformational flexibility is a key event in the thermal adaptation of proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 7406–7411.
- Zhao, Q., 2009. Protein thermodynamic structure. IUBMB life 61, 600–606.
- Zhao, Q., 2011. Nonalgorithmicity and algorithmicity of protein science. Adv. Biosci. Biotech. 2, 340.
- Zhao, Q., 2011. Dynamic model of enzymes action. Protein Pept. Lett. 18, 92–99. Zhao, Q., 2012. Partition function of protein conformational state. J. Comput. Theor.
- Nanosci. 9, 745–751.
- Zhao, Q., 2013. Natures of protein thermodynamics and thermodynamics. Rev. Theor. Sci. 1, 83–101.

- Zhao, Q., 2015. A thermodynamic and theoretical view for enzyme regulation. Biochem. (Mosc) 80, 1–7.
- Zhao, Q., 2016. A thermodynamic model of protein signaling network. Rev. Theor. Sci. 4, 1–9.
- Zou, Q., Benion, B.J., Daggett, V., Murphy, K.P., 2002. The molecular mechanism of stabilization of proteins by TMAO and its ability to counteract the effects of urea. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 124, 1192–1202.

Qinyi Zhao studied chemistry in Department of Chemistry, Jilin University in 1979–1984, and enzymology in 1986–1989 under the supervision of Professor Yuhua Cheng. After graduation, he devoted his time to the understanding of the thermodynamic mechanism of biological processes, including a working mechanism of enzyme activity, enzyme regulation, signal integration, protein folding, protein thermodynamics, etc.